1988

Lawrence C. Kay, Joy Kay, Robert L. Kay, and Teresa Kay v. Summit Systems : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The trial court dismissed plaintiffs' Complaint on defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. This is an appeal as of right from that ruling. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i) (1987).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Where a note secured by a trust deed and by certain letters of credit provides for partial reconveyances upon payment of specified portions of principal, and where the letters of credit are called and applied to the principal by reason of the

promissors' failure to make other payments, are the promissors entitled to the corresponding partial reconveyances?

2. Does an accord and satisfaction exist as a matter of law where one party to a real estate transaction claims an entitlement to a reconveyance of a certain number of lots, and the trustee and beneficiaries repeatedly refuse to reconvey those lots but finally agree to reconvey a portion of the lots?

3. Are the covenants of good faith and fair dealing breached where the trustors make an oral demand for release of certain lots to which they are entitled, and where the beneficiaries know of circumstances which make the release of those lots by a certain date necessary in order to prevent severe economic injury to the trustors, but nonetheless fail to secure a reconveyance of the lots by the required date?

4. Did a genuine issue of fact exist precluding summary judgment on plaintiffs' claim that the contract was unconscionable where the lender failed to disclose material terms in advance of closing and by reason of the lender's delay in closing the borrower had no viable alternative but to execute the contract, and where the terms of the contract are unfair and oppressive?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case. This is an action by the trustors under a trust deed and note for breach of contract by the benefi-

ciaries. The trustors, in addition, sought reformation of the contract, to quiet title to the underlying real property, and recover damages for breach of fiduciary duties and for filing a wrongful notice of default.

B. Course of Proceedings. Plaintiffs commenced this action by filing their Complaint on February 12, 1986. (R. 1.) Defendant J. Scott Beuhler filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on November 3, 1986 (R. 614), and the damage claims against him were dismissed pursuant to stipulation. (R. 697-98, 699-700.) All of the defendants, except Beuhler, (hereinafter "defendants") had previously filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on October 17, 1986. (R. 390-92.) The Hon. Richard C. Davidson, District Judge, considered the matter on the briefs and entered a ruling dismissing plaintiffs' Complaint in its entirety on January 27, 1987. (R. 945.)

Plaintiffs filed a Motion under Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) to vacate the judgment (R. 977) and obtained an extension of time to appeal pending ruling on the motion for relief from the judgment. (R. 986.) The matter was heard by the Hon. Boyd Bunnell, District Judge, who entered a ruling denying the motion for relief from the judgment on March 18, 1987. (R. 1097.) Plaintiffs thereafter perfected this appeal. (R. 1101.)

C. Statement of Facts. This action involves certain agreements plaintiffs entered into with Summit Systems, Inc. (hereinafter "Summit") in order to finance the development of a 75-acre subdivision known as Yellow Hills located near Vernal, Utah. Robert Kay, as nominee, purchased the land¹ on January 20, 1983, from Clive Sprouse for \$350,000.00. (Clive Sprouse deposition at Exhibit 1.) Plaintiffs thereafter spent approximately \$110,000.00 in engineering and surveying work and road construction. (L. Kay depo at p. 43.)

In October or November of 1983, plaintiffs sought to obtain financing for the project from Summit. (L. Kay depo at p. 56.) The Yellow Hills property, at that time, had an appraised value of approximately \$1,518,000.00 (L. Kay depo at Ex. 9 (appraisal dated November 3, 1983)), and it appeared that lots would be readily marketable. (L. Kay depo at Ex. 2.) Summit agreed to extend a loan for approximately \$800,000.00 if certain requirements were met. (L. Kay depo at p. 56.)

At the time plaintiffs applied for a loan from Summit, they already had existing obligations of \$250,000.00 to Clive Sprouse for the balance of the purchase price of the land, \$110,000.00 to

¹Robert Kay purchased approximately 175 acres but only approximately 75 acres were developable. (Deposition of Lawrence Kay, June 12, 1986, (hereinafter "L. Kay depo") at p. 20, l. 22 through p. 21, l. 4.)

First Security Bank for a development loan on the project, and \$135,000.00 for another development loan. (L. Kay depo at pp. 60-62, 66, Ex. 1.) Summit delayed the closing of the loan for a couple of months (L. Kay depo at p. 56), and by the time the closing occurred, the Sprouse and First Security Bank obligations were past due. (L. Kay depo at pp. 61, 84.)

Although plaintiffs had been previously advised that there would be a "discount" (i.e., the face amount of the loan would be greater than the amount actually disbursed), plaintiffs had understood the discount would be approximately 10% and that the interest rate would be approximately 10%. (R. 499, 524.) The plaintiffs were not informed until closing that the discount would be \$123,000.00, or approximately 17%, and in addition that the interest rate would be 17%. (R. 500, 525.) Plaintiffs objected to the discount rate and interest rate, but upon discovering that Summit would not negotiate the terms, the plaintiffs signed the documents because they had no reasonable alternative at that time due to the delay in closing the loan and the resulting delinquency of the obligations to Clive Sprouse and to First Security Bank. (L. Kay depo at pp. 93-94.) Plaintiffs received the sum of \$667,000.00, but under the trust deed and note were required to pay \$806,000.00 plus interest at 17%. (R. 19-23.) (Copies of the

trust deed and trust deed note are attached hereto as Appendices "B" and "C" respectively.

In connection with obtaining the loan, plaintiffs were required to execute a trust deed for the Yellow Hills property in favor of Summit as beneficiary, and in addition to post three letters of credit with a total value of \$280,000.00. Plaintiffs were concerned about the effect of calling the letters of credit, particularly with respect to reconveyances of lots. Plaintiffs were assured by Val Southwick, president of Summit, that the appropriate number of lots would be reconveyed upon the calling of a letter of credit, the same as with other payments of principal. (R. 500-01, 525-26; L. Kay depo at pp. 91, 93, 95, 117; Robert Kay depo dated June 12, 1986 (hereinafter "R. Kay depo"), at pp. 32-33, 35; Marva Joy Kay depo at p. 13; Teresa Kay depo at pp. 9-10.)

The beneficial interest under the trust deed was subsequently assigned by Summit to various investors, each of which are named as parties defendant in this action. Plaintiffs were not informed of the assignments and did not discover that they had occurred until after the trustee had recorded a notice of default with respect to the loan. (R. 502, 527.)

The trust deed stated that the first payment was due on June 1, 1986. Because of the uneven number of days for which interest

was due, however, Summit had agreed to compute the exact amount of the payment due and to advise plaintiffs. (R. 503, 528.) Plaintiffs paid the amount due on or about June 19, 1986, which was within ten days of receiving notice from Summit of the amount due. (L. Kay depo at Ex. 8; R. 473 at para. 13.) Plaintiffs did not make the payment which was due September 1, 1984, and Summit accordingly called one of the letters of credit from First Security Bank for \$110,000.00. (R. 473 at para. 13.) Plaintiffs also did not make the payment due December 1, 1984, and Summit called and drew upon the two remaining letters of credit, from First Interstate Bank in the total amount of \$170,000.00. (Id.)

As a result of the calling of the letters of credit, approximately \$200,000.00 was paid against the principal amount of the loan. Plaintiffs accordingly, on January 10, 1986, sent a written request to Summit for release of 12 lots.² (L. Kay depo at p. 118, Ex. 13; R. Kay depo at p. 46.) Summit received the letter (id.), but failed to release any lots. Plaintiffs had disclosed, while negotiating for the loan and at closing, that they were dependent upon timely releases and sales of lots in order to make the payments due under the trust deed and trust deed

²The trust deed provided in paragraph 22(a) for the release of one of each of the specified lots upon receipt of \$15,000.00 for each lot to be reconveyed. A payment of \$180,000.00 in principal would have entitled plaintiffs under this provision to a release of 12 lots.

note. (L. Kay depo at 69.) Plaintiffs had several parties who has expressed a genuine interest in purchase of lots, but plaintiffs were never able to solicit any written offers because they did not have any lots to sell. (L. Kay depo at 72-73.) Plaintiffs were able to make the payment due March 1, 1986, but were not able to make the payment due June 1, 1986.

Subsequent to the January 10, 1985, written demand for release of lots, plaintiffs made numerous oral demands for lot releases. (R. 503-04, 528-29.) Plaintiffs also explored several alternatives for arranging a purchase of the entire subdivision by other parties in order that plaintiffs could satisfy the obligation to Summit. About May 1, 1985, Southwick finally acknowledged that Summit was obligated to reconvey some lots to plaintiffs and in the middle of May agreed to reconvey 7 specified lots. (R. 504, 529.) Plaintiffs confirmed that agreement by a letter dated June 2, 1985. (R. Kay depo at p. 47.)

At about the same time, plaintiffs had negotiated a sale of the entire subdivision back to Clive Sprouse. The sale was contingent, however, on the release of 7 lots by June 24, 1985. (R. 504, 529.) Plaintiffs informed Southwick of the need to have the lots released by June 24. (Id.) The 7 lots were not, however, released until after July 1, 1985. (R. 489.) Plaintiffs immediately contacted Mr. Sprouse to determine if he would still

purchase the subdivision, but he had lost interest in the project and would not extend the deadline in his prior offer. (L. Kay depo at p. 142.) Plaintiffs thereafter commenced this litigation to recover the damages they had incurred and for a declaration of their rights.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trust deed provided for partial reconveyances of one lot for each \$15,000.00 of principal paid. By reason of the calling of certain letters of credit, plaintiffs paid over \$200,000.00 in principal and were entitled to an appropriate release of lots. Even though the letters of credit were called and applied to the principal by reason of a claimed default by plaintiffs, case law establishes that plaintiffs were still entitled to the reconveyances where the trust deed did not make the reconveyances contingent on the absence of default.

The primary basis for the trial court's dismissal of plaintiffs' Complaint was its determination that an accord and satisfaction had been reached. The only evidence to support this determination was the fact that a demand for release of a reduced number of lots had been made and complied with. There was no evidence, however, of any intent to waive the balance of the initial demand, and in fact there was substantial evidence that

there was no such intent. The resolution of this factual dispute by summary judgment was improper.

Even if an executory accord or an accord and satisfaction were reached, defendants breached the agreement and breached their covenant of good faith and fair dealing by failing to reconvey the lots by a critical deadline of which defendants were aware.

Finally, the entire transaction was unconscionable. The interest rate and discount were grossly unreasonable and unfair in view of the value of the security. Plaintiffs had no meaningful alternative to entering the contract because they had foregone pursuit of other financing in reliance upon the representation that Summit would extend financing on certain terms, but they were not informed until closing that the terms were much more oppressive than initially represented, and because the underlying obligations were in default as a result of delays in closing. The court erred in dismissing the claim without a full hearing on the merits.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

DEFENDANTS BREACHED THE CONTRACT BY FAILING TO RECONVEY LOTS IN RESPONSE TO THE JANUARY 10, 1985 DEMAND.

The trust deed which is the subject of this action provided, in paragraph 22, that plaintiffs were entitled to a reconveyance

of specified lots upon receipt of \$15,000.00 for each lot reconveyed. (A complete copy of the trust deed is attached hereto as Appendix B.) As of January 4, 1985, the principal obligation secured by the trust deed had been reduced to \$605,972.17, a reduction of \$200,027.83 from the initial principal balance of \$806,000.00. (R. 479.) Although the large reduction in principal had resulted mainly from the proceeds of three letters of credit in the total amount of \$280,000.00 which had been called by defendants, plaintiffs nonetheless were entitled, by reason of representations made by Summit at the time the loan was closed and by the terms of the trust deed itself, to a reconveyance of an appropriate number of lots. On January 10, 1985, plaintiffs accordingly made a written demand on Summit for a release of 12 specified lots. Pursuant to the terms of the trust deed, plaintiffs would have been entitled to the release of those lots upon payment of \$180,000.00 in principal; plaintiffs had paid over \$200,000.00 in principal and should have been entitled to a release of 13 lots. Summit, however, refused to release any lots.

Summit's wrongful refusal to release the lots was the specific subject of Count II of plaintiffs' Complaint herein and was implicitly the subject of most of the other claims raised in plaintiffs' Complaint, including specifically Counts V, VI, and VII. The trial court dismissed Counts II, V, VI, and VII of the

Complaint based upon a claimed accord and satisfaction, and accordingly did not decide the issue of whether defendants had breached the contract by failing to reconvey the lots. Point II below establishes that the trial court erred in dismissing the Complaint based on the claim of accord and satisfaction.

The subject of lot releases was of critical importance to plaintiffs. The plaintiffs' ability to make the required payments under the trust deed note were dependent to a large extent on plaintiffs obtaining money from the sales of released lots. (L. Kay depo at p. 69.) Because obtaining timely releases of lots was of such critical importance to the entire operation, plaintiffs discussed the question of lot releases in some detail with Southwick at the closing of the transaction. Each of the plaintiffs testified that the subject of lot releases was discussed at the closing prior to the signing of the trust deed, and that Southwick had represented to plaintiffs that lots would be released if the letters of credit were called, the same as for any other payments of principal. Plaintiffs further testified that they were familiar with contracts in which lot release provisions were enforceable only when the trustors were not in default. In fact, the contract under which plaintiffs had purchased the property from Clive Sprouse contained such a provision. (L. Kay depo at pp. 53-54.)

The trust deed and trust deed note in this case were prepared by or at the direction of Summit, and accordingly, must be construed in favor of plaintiffs. In addition, contracts which provide for the partial release of a mortgage on specific lots or parcels are generally interpreted more strongly against the party required to give the release. Sears v. Riemersma, 655 P.2d 1105, 1107 (Utah 1982). To the extent that the partial release provision is ambiguous or uncertain, the Court should consider the testimony of the parties as to what the contract meant. Oberhansly v. Earle, 572 P.2d 1384, 1386 (Utah 1977).

Application of these principles to the instant case compels the conclusion that plaintiffs were entitled to a release of the lots claimed. Although Summit could have easily inserted a provision in the trust deed to provide that plaintiffs would not be entitled to reconveyances if they were otherwise in default, Summit failed to do so. Summit, in addition, represented to plaintiffs that they would be entitled to reconveyances if payments were made through calling of the letters of credit.

Courts that have considered the issue have generally held that a party is entitled to lot releases under a mortgage notwithstanding that he may be in default of other provisions unless the mortgage specifically provides otherwise. E.g., Harada v. Burns, 50 Hawaii 528, 588, 445 P.2d 376, 379 (1968); see also

Annot., Construction of provision in real-estate mortgage, land contract or other security instrument for release of separate parcels of land as payments are made, 41 A.L.R. 3d 7, 67 (1972).

This Court should hold, as a matter of law, that plaintiffs were entitled to a reconveyance of at least 12 lots on January 10, 1985, and are entitled to an appropriate award of damages by reason of defendants' failure to release those lots. In the alternative, this case should be remanded for the taking of evidence to determine what was the parties' intention with respect to release of lots at the time the trust deed was executed.

POINT II

THE JUNE 2, 1985 DEMAND FOR RELEASE OF 7 LOTS
DID NOT CONSTITUTE AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION
AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Defendants claimed before the District Court that the June 2, 1985 demand for release of 7 lots constituted a compromise and settlement of the prior demand for release of 12 lots. The District Court accepted defendants' argument and entered summary judgment dismissing plaintiffs' breach of contract and other claims related to the failure to timely release lots (Counts II, V, VI and VII). The District Court's ruling was clearly erroneous. First, defendants failed to plead accord and satisfaction as an affirmative defense. Second, the record in this case clearly establishes material factual disputes as to whether there

was an accord and satisfaction. Third, even ignoring the evidence offered by plaintiffs, the evidence offered by defendants in support of their Motion for Summary Judgment was insufficient as a matter of law to establish an accord and satisfaction. Fourth, any agreement which was reached was executory only, and defendants failed to release the lots within the time required by any such executory accord. These arguments will be addressed in order.

A. Defendants Failed To Plead Accord And Satisfaction As An Affirmative Defense.

Accord and satisfaction is an affirmative defense which must be specifically pleaded. Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c); Hintze v. Seach, 20 Utah 2d 275, 437 P.2d 202, 207-08 (1968). No claim of accord and satisfaction appeared in defendant's Answer. The claim appeared for the first time in defendant's Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 563-66.)

Defendants have claimed in response to plaintiffs' post-judgment motions that the claim of accord and satisfaction was pleaded in that it was embraced within the defendants' Second and Fifth Affirmative Defenses. Those defenses provide as follows:

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Plaintiffs' claims are barred by the doctrine of waiver.

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

All of defendants' obligations under the agreements and understandings of the parties have been met.

(R. 267.)

Defendants claim that accord and satisfaction is embraced within these affirmative defenses because an accord and satisfaction is similar to a waiver and because a reference to defendants having met their obligations under the agreements and understandings of the parties includes having met their obligations under any settlement agreements. These arguments are simply without merit. No reasonable person would understand from a reading of these defenses that defendants would rely on a claim of accord and satisfaction. It is clear that even defendants did not believe these defenses to include accord and satisfaction because the claim was never raised until their Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment.

Where defendants had failed to properly plead accord and satisfaction, it was error for the Court to grant summary judgment on that ground.

B. Material Issues Of Fact Exist With Respect To The Claim of Accord And Satisfaction.

Because the claim of accord and satisfaction was not raised until after most of the discovery had been completed, no discovery was addressed specifically to that issue. All the evidence in the

record establishes, nevertheless, that plaintiffs' demands for lot releases were consistent. Plaintiffs demanded the full number of lots to which they were entitled by reason of the principal paid both before and after the July 1, 1986 release of 7 lots. The evidence clearly supports the inference that defendants released those 7 lots because defendants finally acknowledged that plaintiffs were entitled to the release of at least that many lots. There is no evidence that plaintiffs agreed to withdraw their claim for the remaining lots. Plaintiffs continued to demand the release of the remaining lots to which they are entitled, and at no time did defendants ever object to or respond to those demands by claiming that an accord and satisfaction had been reached.

Lawrence Kay and Robert Kay each testified with respect to the release of lots as follows:

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