1988

Lawrence C. Kay; Joy Kay; Robert L. Kay and Teresa Kay v. Summit Systems : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. Summary of the Argument

In January 1984, the Kays received \$667,000.00 from Summit Systems, Inc. which they used to pay off existing obligations on the Yellow Hills subdivision and to further develop that property into an improved subdivision. The Kays signed a Note secured by letters of credit and a trust deed in favor of Summit Systems, Inc.

For valuable consideration, Summit Systems, Inc. assigned 100% of its interests in the Note and Trust Deed to the Investors who were named as defendants in this lawsuit.

The Kays made the first quarterly payment due under the Note, acquiesced in the calling of the letters of credit for the second and third quarterly payment, made the fourth quarterly payment and defaulted on any subsequent payment. Thus, they clearly accepted the benefits of their loan transactions and ratified those contractual obligations. Only after the Kays encountered further financial difficulties did they attempt to avoid those obligations by characterizing them as "unconscionable."

As a matter of law, the Note and Trust Deed are not "unconscionable." The supposedly unconscionable substantive

terms to which the Kays object are substantially less onerous than other similar terms previously upheld by this Court. Similarly, as a matter of law, there is no basis for a claim of procedural unconscionability because no terms of the loan were buried in fine print, and Summit was not responsible for the Kays' perceived need to secure the loan.

Further, even if a claim for unconscionability could have been made, that claim cannot be asserted against the Investors who are bona fide purchasers/assignees of the Trust Deed and Trust Deed Note. Finally, the Kays have waived any claim of unconscionability by ratifying the subject agreements when they accepted the benefits of that loan, attempted to comply with the loan provisions, and now seek enforcement of that contract.

The Kays next contend that the Respondents failed to comply with certain release/reconveyance provisions of the Trust Deed. The Kays admit that they defaulted on making quarterly payments and that the Investors received payment by resorting to the letters of credit which had been provided as additional security for the loan obligations. The Kays contend, however, that the Investors were required not only to lose any further interests in the letters of credit, but also to voluntarily release their security interests in a significant number of lots which had also been provided as security. The Kays' argument ignores the very purpose of the Trust Deed and the letter of credit provisions in the Trust

Deed. That purpose was to provide Summit Systems, Inc. with the level of security and collateralization for the repayment of the loan which Summit Systems, Inc. deemed necessary to make the loan. The Kays ignore the clear language of the contract, seek to render other provisions of the Trust Deed meaningless, and ignore commercial reality.

As a matter of law, the Respondents met all (a) express, implied, compromised and/or modified contractual obligation; (b) all statutory obligations which, by law, were incorporated into the contracts; and (c) all common law duties. Accordingly, the decision of the lower court dismissing the Kays' Complaint should be affirmed.

II. The Kays May Not Cite And Rely Upon Evidence Which Was Never Presented To The Lower Court And Which Respondents Were Never Allowed To Address.

Pursuant to Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Respondents moved for summary judgment to dismiss the claims in the plaintiffs' Complaint. The Motion was supported by numerous citations to deposition testimony and the affidavit of Val E. Southwick.

Pursuant to Rule 56(e), the Kays could not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of their pleading. They were required to present affidavits and/or citations to other testimony in the record which contained admissible evidence and which raised issues of material fact. If they did not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate was properly entered

against them. See Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1044-45 (Utah 1983) ("Franklin Financial"); Rainford v. Rytting, 22 Utah 2d 252, 451 P.2d 769, 770-71 (1969).

In their appellate brief, the Kays rely heavily upon deposition testimony of the Kays and others which was never presented to the lower court. Consequently, the Respondents were not allowed to cite additional deposition testimony or submit additional affidavits to address the Kays' new contentions.

In the court below, the Kays only relied upon (a) the affidavits of Robert L. Kay (R.523 to 531) and Lawrence C. Kay (R.498 to 506); and (b) the deposition testimony of Lawrence C. Kay at p.90, line 14 to p.91, line 23, and of Robert L. Kay p.35, line 9 to p. 37, line 10. This was done despite the fact Judge Davidson gave them an opportunity to present additional evidence. It is improper for the Kays to now attempt to embellish the record and present new evidence for the first time on appeal. See Cowan & Co. v. Atlas Stock Transfer Co., 695 P.2d 109, 113-14 (Utah 1984); Franklin Financial, 659 P.2d at 1045.

Accordingly, the Kays' contentions on appeal will be argued based upon the record before the lower court.

III. The Kays Breached Their Contractual Obligations.

Pursuant to the terms of the Note, commencing June 1, 1984, the Kays were obligated to make quarterly payments of at

least \$42,659.37. From their own funds, they only made the June 1984 and May 1985 payments. As a result of the Kays' failure to make the quarterly payments due September 1, 1984 and December 1, 1984, three letters of credit were drawn upon as provided in the Trust Deed. No payments have been made since May 1985. Thus, the Kays have clearly breached their contractual obligations.

The only question presented on this appeal is whether the Kays have a legal excuse for those breaches. As set forth below, the Kays have no valid grounds for avoiding their contractual obligations.

IV. The Trust Deed And Trust Deed Note Are Not Unconscionable. Accordingly, The Lower Court Correctly Ruled That The Subject Agreements Are Valid And Enforceable.

Count I of the Kays' Complaint sought reformation of the Trust Deed and Trust Deed Note to make them more "fair, reasonable, conscionable and enforceable." (R.10.) In answers to interrogatories (R.345-352) the Kays objected to the substantive terms of the agreements which provided for a "discount" of \$139,000.00 and required them to obtain letters of credit as additional security for repayment of the funds which they received. They also contend that the agreements were procedurally unconscionable because they were in financial distress and were thus forced to accept onerous terms which differed from those which they thought would be included.

A. As a Matter of Law, the Substantive Terms of the Agreements Are "Conscionable".

It is well-settled that in the absence of compelling considerations of policy to the contrary, it is the duty of the courts to give effect to the covenants to which the parties have agreed in their contracts. Lundstrom v. Radio Corporation of America, 17 Utah 2d 114, 405 P.2d 339, 341 (1965). "A court does not have carte blanche to reform any transaction to include terms that it believes are fair." Briggs v. Liddell, 699 P.2d 770, 772 (Utah 1985); Cunningham v. Cunningham, 690 P.2d 549, 550 (Utah 1984). See also Bekins Bar V Ranch v. Huth, 664 P.2d 455, 459 (Utah 1983); Carlson v. Hamilton, 8 Utah 2d 272, 332 P.2d 989, 990-91 (Utah 1958); Ephraim Theatre Co. v. Hawk, 7 Utah 2d 163, 321 P.2d 221, 223 (Utah 1958); Tooele City v. Settlement Canyon Irrigation Co., 4 Utah 2d 215, 291 P.2d 881, 883 (Utah 1955).

The case of Bekins Bar V Ranch v. Huth, 664 P.2d 455 (Utah 1983) ("Bekins Bar") is directly on point and demonstrates, as a matter of law, that the Kays' agreement with Summit is not unconscionable. In that case, the plaintiff, Bekins Bar V Ranch, was in desperate financial condition. To meet its financial obligations, the Ranch's president and his wife ("the Fains") borrowed \$120,000.00 from the defendant Huths. 664 P.2d at 457. They agreed to repay \$200,000.00 in annual installments of \$100,000.00, \$50,000.00, and \$50,000.00. Id. That was the equivalent of an annual interest rate of 36.3 per cent. Id. The Fains later took out a second

loan for \$80,000.00 from the Huths and agreed to repay \$100,000.00 within six months -- an effective annual interest rate of 58 percent! Id. The loans to the Fains were secured by a second and third trust deed on the Fains' ranch, a security interest in farm equipment, three years of hay crops, and other personal property. Id.

When the Fains defaulted on the payment of the loans, the Huths began foreclosure proceedings. The Fains sought preliminary injunctive relief, and, as have the Kays, claimed that they were not in default, that the notice of default had been improperly filed, and that the loans were "unconscionable."

The trial court agreed with the Fains and attempted to substantially modify the terms of the agreement. See 664 P.2d at 458-459.

The Utah Supreme Court reversed the trial court and found that the trial court's attempts to make the agreements more "fair" were improper. It also ordered that the loan agreements be enforced as written. In doing so, the court made a number of observations which are pertinent to this case. First, the determination of whether a contract is unconscionable is to be made with respect to the conditions which existed at the time the contract was made. See 664 P.2d at 461.

Second, the court noted that:

The availability of high risk capital is essential to the functioning of our economic system. New enterprises with untested products often require high cost capital, as

do ventures whose viability is uncertain for whatever reason. Bekins argues that the finance charges on the loans, amounting to 36.3 percent on the \$200,000 loan and 58 percent on the \$100,000 loan, and the security taken for the loans, were excessive. Although the finance charges are high by some standards, we do not think they were unconscionable Huths' subsequent loans to Bekins, which proved necessary because of obvious underfinancing of the ranch operation, were clearly high risk. Acquisition of high risk capital almost always requires the payment of a premium. It is not sound legal policy to establish rules so strict as to unnecessarily dampen legitimate and desirable business activity.

664 P.2d at 463.

There is no doubt that the Kays agreed to pay a relatively high rate of interest for the money they obtained from Summit. The undisputed evidence demonstrated, however, that the Kays received a loan of \$667,000.00 for a venture for which three different banks were unwilling to provide funds. They were able to obtain their high-risk venture loan with a longer repayment schedule than the banks would normally allow. They were not required to come up with loan origination fees, title reports, title insurance, or other out-of-pocket costs to obtain the loan.

The Kays agreed to pay back their loan at an equivalent effective annual interest rate of approximately 24.28%. That interest rate was much lower rate than the 36.3% and 58% interest rates held to be proper and enforceable in the two "discounted" loans in Bekins Bar. Thus, under Utah law, under circumstances analogous to the case at bar, the amount of

the "discount" to the plaintiffs and their agreement to repay the funded amounts with an annual effective interest rate less than 25% is not unconscionable.

The Kays also claim it was unconscionable for Summit Systems to require them to provide letters of credit as security.¹ Not surprisingly, plaintiffs cite no authority for the novel contention that it is unconscionable for a lender to seek additional collateral for its loan. Indeed, in Bekins Bar the lender obtained security interests in hay crops, the debtors' properties, and several other items. In light of (a) the Kays' failure to make the September 1, 1984, December 1, 1984, and June 1, 1985 payments, (b) the generally depressed state of the Vernal economy, and (c) the inherent risk associated with developing raw land into improved subdivision lots, Summit Systems was more than justified in seeking such additional security.

¹The primary basis of this claim is that the loan was already fully collateralized since the property itself had an appraised value of \$1,518,000.00. This perfectly illustrates how Respondents are prejudiced by Appellants' delinquent citation to deposition testimony never presented to the lower court. In fact, the appraisal which the Kays relied upon estimated the market value of fully improved lots. On its face, it did not reflect the value of the property at the time the loan was made to the Kays and the property was undeveloped.

Similar arguments could be made regarding each of the Kays new factual assertions, e.g., they contend that Summit delayed the loan closing for several months, but the loan documents on their face, show that the letters of credit were not provided until less than two weeks before the closing.

B. There Are No Procedural Considerations
Rendering the Subject Transactions
Unconscionable.

The Kays contend that the subject loan transaction was procedurally unconscionable because by the time the loan was closed, the Kays were in such desperate financial straits that they were forced to accept the unconscionable substantive terms. As a matter of law, this claim is without merit.

To sustain a claim of "duress" or "compulsion," it must be proven that the Respondents wrongfully created the economic circumstances forcing the Kays to borrow funds from Summit. When a contract is otherwise entered into under stress of pecuniary necessity, it is not "compulsion." See Clearwater Constr. & Eng'r, Inc. v. Wickes Forest Indus., 108 Idaho 132, 697 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (1985) ("Clearwater"); Continental Illinois National Bank & Trusts Co. of Chicago v. Stanley, 606 F.Supp. 558, 562 (N.D.Ill. 1985); Sheraton Hawaii Corp. v. Poston, 454 P.2d 369, 372 (Haw. 1969); Chouinard v. Chouinard, 568 F.2d 430, 433-34 (5th Cir. 1978).

The Kays found themselves in their alleged economic predicament from their own actions. The Respondents did not require the Kays to purchase and develop Yellow Hills. The Respondents did not force the three banks to turn down the Kays' loan requests. The Respondents did not prevent the Kays from negotiating with other lenders about obtaining development

loans at the same time they were negotiating with Summit Systems, Inc. The Respondents did not force the Kays to take \$667,000.00. The Respondents did not prevent the Kays from seeking refinancing at more favorable terms at any time from another lender after the loan was entered into. As a matter of law, therefore, the supposed fact that the Kays were required to accept the financing because of their own economic situation is not grounds for reforming the contract on the grounds of unconscionability.

Similarly, there are no other grounds for claiming "procedural" unconscionability. Usually, such a claim is based upon onerous terms being buried in "fine print." See Resource Management Co. v. Weston Ranch and Livestock Company, Inc., 706 P.2d 1028, 1042 (Utah 1985). In this case, the terms objected to were not buried. They were specifically set out in a separate typewritten documents -- Schedule A to the Trust Deed and a closing statement showing the amount of the discount. It is undisputed that the Kays reviewed the loan documents at closing, and although they now claim those terms differed from alleged prior oral negotiations, they signed those loan documents knowing the amount they would be obligated to repay. Further, it is undisputed that no one prevented the Kays from seeking the advice of counsel or delaying the closing for a short period if they felt that was necessary.

Based upon the foregoing, the subject agreements were not procedurally or substantively unconscionable, and, thus, Count I of the Complaint was properly dismissed.

C. The Kays May Not Reform The Contracts Because They Have Accepted The Benefits Of The Loan And Have Ratified It.

Even assuming arguendo that the subject loan transaction was "unconscionable," such would make the contract "voidable," not void. See Clearwater, 697 P.2d at 1149; Hubbard v. Geare, 77 Ariz. 262, 269 P.2d 1064, 1065-66 (1954); State v. Barlow, 153 P.2d 647, 654 (Utah 1944). Such contracts can be adopted and ratified. An unconscionable contract is ratified when the party accepts the benefits of that contract and/or complies with its provisions. Id.

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